






indicated in paragraph A14, that such rights would not be an impediment to meeting the 
isolation requirement. However, paragraph 8A, which establishes significant new 
requirements, seems designed to specifically address the accounting for loan 
participations. Many of the issues raised by paragraph 8A are discussed in the Loan 
Syndications and Trading Association (LST A) comment letter, which we endorse. 

In general, it is nnclear why, if the Board was satisfied that loan participations meet the 
legal isolation test for derecognition, paragraph 8A is considered necessary. The basis 
for conclusions (paragraphs A22 through A2S) is unpersuasive in this regard. Our 
concern arises from the fact that although it is clear how to apply paragraph 8A to loan 
participations, we believe it raises a host of questions on how to analyze many other 
common types of transactions where the transferor retains an interest in the assets but the 
transfcr was not to a QSPE - for example, transfers to collateralized debt obligations 
(COOs); transfers to multiseller conduits; and loan assignments (where a portion of the 
loan, rather than a portion of the loan cash flows is sold). The proposed requirements 
also rcsult in an increased use of QSPEs, and given the IASB's view on QSPEs, wc 
believe that this will result in greater divergence from international accounting standards. 

Accordingly, we question the need for and value of the requirements in paragraph 8A. 
Instead, we recommend either no change to the current guidance included in paragraphs 
104 - 106, or an expansion of paragraph 9 to explicitly address the transfer of an interest 
in the cash flows arising from financial assets by requiring that these cash flows be 
analyzed under paragraph 9. However, given that the isolation issue is no longer a 
concern, we do not see the benefit of adding the extra layer of complexity included in the 
Transfers ED. 

Legal isolation requirements of paragraph 9a 

The proposcd changes to paragraph 9a emphasize the necd to consider all consolidated 
affiliates of the transferor in the isolation analysis. In general we do not object to this 
emphasis. However, paragraph 27 A requires legal analysis under the laws in the 
applicable jurisdiction of aU consolidated affiliates of the transferors, supporting the 
conclusion that the transferred interests would not be deemed part of the estate of any 
consolidated affiliate in bankruptcy or receivership. We are concerned that the increased 
emphasis on a transferor's consolidated affiliates may lead auditors to require legal 
opinions with respect to all affiliates of the transferor, regardless of whether they actually 
entered into any transactions with the transferee that would impact a legal isolation 
opinion. For Merrill Lynch, a large international organization with subsidiaries 
incorporated in many different countries, we foresee practical difficulty in meeting this 
burdensome requirement. Accordingly, we recommend that the Board, either in the body 
oftbe standard or in tbe basis for conclusion, limit the isolation analysis to affiliates that 
are a party to or are directly involved in the transaction. 

In addition, paragraph A I 7 is drafted to suggest that the Board would expect a legal 
isolation opinion to not only consider all arrangements between consolidated affiliates 
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and the transferee but also be written as if such affiliate transactions had been entered 
into directly by the transferor. We believe that if this is indeed what is required, this is a 
fundamental change to the requirements of paragraph 9(a), and we do not support this 
change for the reasons discussed below. 

Paragraph 9(a) requires a legal analysis of a transaction, and such legal analysis respects 
the separateness of discrete legal entities. We believe that it is inappropriate to require a 
legal isolation analysis, which respects the corporate form of a transaction, and then 
require lawyers to alter that legal analysis so as to ignore the corporate form. We 
recognize that the legal approach is different from the traditional way in which 
accountants view transactions with affiliates, i. e. , as transactions within a single 
consolidated economic unit; but we believe that if the standard for sale treatment in 9(a) 
is meant to be isolation in bankruptcy, then the requirement should be to obtain a legal 
opinion for the actual transaction as it is understood from a legal perspective. 

We also acknowledge that because of this standard, there are situations in which a 
transfer of assets may pass the legal isolation test even though an affiliate of the 
transferor provides somc level of support or credit enhancement. However, as long as it 
is limited, and as long as the transferred asscts are outside the chain of title of the 
transferor, a legal isolation opinion may be rendered. We further note that the impact of 
affiliate involvement is separately (and, we believe, adequately) addressed by the 
requirements of paragraphs 9b and 9c, as well as through the substantive non­
consolidation opinion requircd by AU9336. We believe these requirements, taken 
together, appropriately address whether such involvement results in a situation whereby 
the transferor, as a consolidated whole, retains "effcctive control" over the transferred 
assets such that derccognition would not be appropriate. 

In sum, we agree that it is appropriate that opinions as to legal isolation explicitly 
consider al1 arrangements between the transferee and consolidated affiliates of the 
transferor that are a party to or are directly involved in the transactions, but we strongly 
believe that the actual fact pattcrn of the transaction should be respected, and the legal 
opinion should not impute a different party to the contract than is the actual party to the 
contract. 

Transferability reqnirements under paragraph 9b 

The guidance in paragraph 9b of the Transfers ED explicitly states that each entity in a 
multi-step transaction is considered to be a transferee and, unless structured as a QSPE, 
must be able to pledge or exchange the transferred assets without constraint or if there is 
any constraint, that constraint cannot provide more than a trivial benefit to the transferor. 
This appears to directly conflict with the guidance in paragraph 83 which explicitly 
al10ws for a two-step transaction, whereby the first transfer is to a bankruptcy remote 
entity that is not a QSPE, and the second transfer is to an entity that is a QSPE. In the 
transaction described in paragraph 83, we do not see how the first entity (the bankruptcy­
remote entity or BRE) would satisfy the new requirement of paragraph 9b because it is 
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directed by the transferor to immediately sell its assets to the second entity (and this 
direction presumably provides more than a trivial benefit to the transferor because it is 
essential to effect the securitization transaction). 

Does the Board now believe that in a multi-step transaction, every entity needs to be a 
QSPE? Such a requirement would have a substantial impact on how transactions are 
currently structured in the securitization markets. It is not clear why the structure as 
described in paragraph 83, which is often required in securitization transactions to satisfy 
the legal isolation condition in paragraph 9a, would be an issue for meeting the 
requirements of paragraph 9b. We see no compelling reason why every entity in a multi­
step transaction should be a QSPE, and in our view, the Transfers ED fails to provide a 
satisfactory rationale for this added complexity. Therefore, we strongly recommend the 
removal of the last sentence in paragraphs 9b and 80. 

As noted in paragraph 83, the first entity in the traditional two-step securitization 
structure is typically consolidated with the transferor from an accounting perspective, 
even though from a legal perspective it is considered to be legally isolated. We believe 
the provisions of 9b should apply to the consolidated group, and therefore the test of 
whether the transferee can freely pledge or exchange the transfcrrcd assets should be 
applied only to those transferees that are not consolidated, for accounting purposes, with 
the transferor. 

Measuring retained interests at fair value 

The Transfers ED requires fair value as the initial measure of a transferor's retained 
interest (except for retained participating interests) in transferred financial assets. 
Previously, retained interests were accounted for at their allocated carryover basis. We 
do not object to this change on a conceptual basis as we are in agreement with the 
FASB's broader effort to record transactions at fair value, but we are concerned about the 
possible ramifications of this proposal, specifically in its application to assets that are not 
subsequently accounted for at fair value with changes in value recorded in earnings. 
Consider the following example: 

• An entity securitizes appreciated debt securities currently classified as available­
for-sale (AFS) using a QSPE; 

• The QSPE issues 10% of its beneficial intcrests to a third party. The transferor 
retains the remaining 90% of the beneficial interests; 

• The transferor records a gain on sale for the full amount of AFS securities 
transferred to the QSPE, and initially records the 90% transferor's beneficial 
interest at fair value; and 

• As permitted under Statement No. 115, the transferor elects to classify its 
beneficial interest as an AFS security and record subsequent changes in fair value 
in Other Comprehensive Income. 
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We believe that the above fact pattern is tantamount to transferring a security from AFS 
to Trading, recognizing a gain, and transferring it back again to AFS. While it is 
arguable whether a "new" security has been created by virtue of selling only a small 
portion of the beneficial interests to third parties, we believe that if the FASB decides to 
move forward with its proposal, to prevent abuse, it should require that the transferor's 
beneficial interests be marked to market though earnings both initially as well as 
subsequently. 

• * * • * 

Thank you again for the opportunity to comment on the ED. We hope that the Board will 
give serious consideration to our comments as they further deliberate this project. Please 
do not hesitate to contact me with any questions or requests for additional information. 

Sincerely, 

lsi Esther Mills 

Esther Mills 
First Vice President 
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